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To evetiko @poUpio «Rocca a Mare» ] «Castello a Mare» 1} «Castello»
1) «Su Kulesi» rj «KoUAeg» Ppioketal otny eicodo tou evetikol Aipaviol
tou HparAeiou. Avrikel ota Aeydpeva embaldooia @poupia, TTou Aertoup-
youoav wg mpowbnuévol mpopaxwveg otn 8dAacoa, ota mAaiola evég eu-
PUTEPOU APXITEKTOVIKOU oxediaopoy, Kal ouvOud{ovtav PEPIKEG POPES HE
TNV Mpootacia epmopikol Aipaviol kai vauotdBuou, émwg otny TePITwon
Tou Ppoupiou Tou HpakAeiou.

2Uppwva Pe TG I0TOPIKEG PapTupieg, otny idia Béon eival moAd mBavdv va
urpxe mdpyog and ) B” Pulavuivr mepiodo 1| kar tnv apafokpatia. Aev
yvwpifoupe T pop@r} Tou @poupiou Katd TV MEWTN TePiodo TG eveto-
Kpatiac. Ta Bevetikd éyypagpa Twv apxwv tou lbou aibva avagépouy &t o
nipyog eixe umootel {npiég kai itav oxedov etoiudpporiog. Me v emkpd-
TNon Tou Mpopaxwvikol cuotripatog oxtpwong (fronte bastionato) kai tn
PICIKY aAayr| NG HOPPHG TWV OXUPWOEWY, TO TIAAI6 @pouplo Sev Uropou-
o€ va avianokpIBel oTG VEEG APUVTIKEG avdyKkeg Twv MOAUBOAwY SdTAwy, yi'
autd to 1523 amogaoietal n kateddpion Kkar n ek véou S6unor| Tou, oUp-
@wva Je to mpouaxwvikd oclotnua. H kataokeur| Tou véou @poupiou oAo-
KAnpwONnke yUpw oto 1540. AnoteAel avandonacto TPARA TwV VEWY EVET-
KOV OXUPWOOEWY NG TMOANG. O Kevipikdg dovag Tou ppoupiou OTpépetal
TIPOG TNV avatoAr yia va mpootatelel To Niiéva Kai TV avatoAIKr) akr, eved
n B.-BA. mAeupd fAeyxe tov kéATTO Tou Hpakheiou, To MapdkTio Tefxog Kai
1o Kponukd méhayoc.

To ppoUplio eival xtiopévo mdvw oe QuUoIkd Bpaxwdeg €Eappa, To otoio
ol Bevetol avaykdotnkav va cupminpwoouy Bubidovtag maNiég YaAépeg ve-
udteg e Ppdxia, xahikia kar oykoAiBoug, ou petagépdnkav and ta Ppa-
okid ka v Ntia. To @polpio eivar dimpopo Kkal otny TeNKr] Tou pop-
@rj KdAutTte em@dveia mepimou 3.600 .. 2to 10dyelo, To orofo eival BoAo-

OKETTEG, HE OTTEG e§agpiopol Kal pwTIopoU Tou amoArjyouwv oto doua, di-
apop@®vovTal 26 EMUEPOUG XWPOI TIOU XPNOIMEUav wG amobrikeg Tpoi-
pwv-rioAepgopodiwy, ailBouca cuykévipwong kal @uAakr. Emiong oto 106-
yelo Ppiokdtav n Se€apevr) vepol. H mpdoPaocn oto doua yivetar péow
KNIHAKOOTAsiou Kal KEKAPEVOU eMMESOU yIa T HETAQOPd TwV TTOAUBOAWY
OMAwV. 2Toug Toixoug undpxouv mpdPool, mou mbavétata otipidav EU-
AIVO HECOTIATWHA YIa TOUG XWPOUG oTpatwviopou. To doua eivar diapop-
pwpévo oe duo enmeda. Ekel unmpxav kataAdpata yia tov kacteAdvo Kkai
TouG agiwpatkolsg TG ePoupds, €vag @oupvog, évag HUAOG, pia piker| ek-
KAnofa kar o edpog,.

271G OYeig tou KoUAe eival evoixiopéveg ToelG pappdpiveg ouvBeoelq pe
10 Prepwtd Aéovra, oUpPolo tou euayyehiotr) Mdpkou, mpootdtn tng Be-
vetiag. H mpwn Bpioketal mdvw amd v kUpia miAn, otn dutikr) TAeupd Tou
ppoupiou. >tn Bdon g undpxel emypaer pe o dvoua tou déyn Andrea
Gritti (1533-1534). H deltepn olvBeon eival tomoBetnpévn mdvw amnd ) fo-
pe1a TUAN. 2t Bdon NG UndpXel eMypaer] pe Ta ovopata tou déyn Andrea
Gritti, Tou douka NG Kpritng Domenico Capello, tou capitano generale
Gerolamo Zane kai twv oupPoliwy Marcantonio Diedo kai Nicolo Marcello
(1533). H tpftn olvBeon, otn véuia dyn Tou epoupiou TIPOG Tov Vet Ai-
péva, eivar Ntdtepn.

Katd tnv oBwpavikr mepiodo o @poUupio SEXTNKe EMOKEUES Kal eMePBd-
OEIG, KUPIWG 0To dpa, dmou TpoaotiBevial eMAAEEIG, kavovioBupideg kal éva
HIKpd TépEVOG. 2Ta KeNId Tou ppoupiou guAakiotnkav oMol Kprjteg emava-
otdteg, avdpeoa otoug omoioug o Aaokaloyidwwng.

To @poUpio Séxtnke eMaveIANUUEVEG EMIOKEUEG €EAITIAG TNG OPHNTIKAG
duvapng g Bdhacoag mou mpo&evel akdun kar orjuepa POOPEG atnv Tol-
xorolia kai otn BepeAiwor] Tou.




he Venetian fortress “Rocca a Mare”, “Castello a Mare”, “Castello”, “Su

Kulesi” or “Koules” is situated at the entrance to the Venetian harbor
of Heraklion. It is one of the so-called marine fortresses which functioned
as forward bastions on the sea within the framework of more general ar-
chitectural planning. It was occasionally combined with protection of the
commercial harbor and docks, as was the case here.

According to historical testimony, there was probably a tower at the same
site during the second Byzantine or even the Arab period. We do not
know what form the fortress had during the first period of the Venetian
rule. Early 16th c. Venetian documents mention that the tower had suffered
damages and was practically in ruins. With the prevalence of the bastion
system (fronte bastionato) and radical changes in the form of fortifications,
the old fortress could not meet the new defensive needs created by the use
of cannons, and so in 1523 it was decided to demolish it and build it over in
accordance with the bastion system. Construction of the new fortress was
completed around 1540. It formed an inseparable part of the new Venetian
fortifications of the city. The fortress’s main axis was oriented towards the
East to protect the harbor and the east coast, while its north-northwestermn
side controlled the Bay of Candia, the coastal wall, and the Cretan sea.

The fortress is built atop a natural rocky outcrop, which the Venetians
were compelled to supplement by sinking old galleons filled with rocks,
gravel and boulders transported from Fraskia and Dia. The fortress has two
storeys, and in its final form covered a total area of around 3,600 square
meters. On the ground floor, which was vaulted with openings for ventila-
tion and lighting ending at the dome, there were 26 separate rooms used
as storerooms for food and munitions, a meeting hall, and a prison. The
water reservoir was also on the ground floor. Access to the upper storey
was achieved by a staircase and a ramp used for moving firearms. There
are projections on the walls that probably supported a wooden mezzanine
floor to provide troop quarters. The upper floor is configured in two levels;
it provided accommodations for the governor (castellano) and officers of
the garrison, a bakery, a mill, a small church and a lighthouse.

Three marble compositions with the Winged Lion, the symbol of Saint
Mark (Venice's patron saint) were built into the facades of Koules. The first
is set above the main gate on the western side of the fortress. At its base
is an inscription with the name of the Doge Andrea Gritti (1533-1534). The
second is above the northern gate; at its base is an inscription bearing the
names of the Doge Andrea Gritti, the Duke of Crete Domenico Capello,
the capitano generale Gerolamo Zane, and the councillors (consiglieri) Mar-
cantonio Diedo and Nicolo Marcello (1533). The third composition on the
fortress's southern facade is simpler.

During the Ottoman period the fortress underwent repairs and interven-
tions, chiefly to its upper storey, where battlements, gun ports, and a small
mosque were added. Many Cretan revolutionaries were imprisoned in the
fortress's cells, Daskalogiannis among them.

The fortress has been repeatedly repaired due to the great force of the
sea, which continues today to cause damage to its masonry and foundations.
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